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FOREWORD 

 
The Police Officer Standards and Training Council, the Office of the Chief State’s Attorney and the 

Connecticut Coalition Against Domestic Violence, Inc. have jointly prepared this model policy. It is designed 
to provide police professionals with model guidelines, policies and procedures for dealing with crimes 

associated with family violence. 
 

The Family Violence Prevention and Response Act (FVPRA) originally enacted in 1986, and amended in 
1987, 1988, 1989, 1991, 1992, 1993, 1994, 1996 1999 and 2001,  represents a national model of 

cooperation among the multiple agencies, organizations and individuals who come in contact with family 
violence. The law is very specific regarding the responsibilities of police officers in handling family violence 
cases. This model policy and procedure is designed to assist individual police organizations in developing 

departmental policies and procedures. 
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PURPOSE 

It is the purpose of this policy to establish a uniform procedure for the response to and 
investigation of family violence complaints and to reaffirm the officer's responsibility for making 

arrest decisions in such cases in accordance with traditional probable cause standards, existing 
state statutes and the Family Violence Prevention and Response Act. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

MODEL POLICY 
 

It is the policy of this agency that family violence be treated as violent criminal behavior and, 
consistent with this policy, that officers fully comply with the Family Violence Prevention and 

Response Act to: make arrest decisions in such cases in accordance with traditional probable 
cause standards and existing state statutes; 

• make arrest decisions in such cases in accordance with traditional probable cause standards 
and existing state statutes; 

• protect victims of domestic violence and provide them with relevant information regarding the 
availability of community services and support (“Duty to Protect”); 

• promote officer safety when dealing with family violence situations.                                          
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FAMILY VIOLENCE, FAMILY VIOLENCE CRIME AND 

FAMILY OR HOUSEHOLD MEMBER DEFINED 
 

 
"Family violence" means an incident resulting in physical harm, bodily injury or assault, or an act of 

threatened violence that constitutes fear of imminent physical harm, bodily injury or assault between family 
or household members and dating couples. Verbal abuse or argument shall not constitute family violence 

unless there is present danger and the likelihood that physical violence will occur. [CGS §46b-38a(1)] 
 

 

 
"Family violence crime" means a crime as defined in CGS §53a-24, which, in addition to its other 

elements, contains as an element thereof an act of family violence to a family or household member and 
shall not include acts by parents or guardians disciplining minor children unless such acts constitute abuse. 

[CGS §46b-38a(3)] 
 
 

  
 

“Family or household member” means: 
 
• spouses and former spouses;  
• parents and their children;  
• persons eighteen years of age or older related by blood or marriage*;                                          

                                                                                                                                                                  
       *Reference to “related by blood or marriage includes” but is not limited to: adult sibling; cousin; aunt; uncle; 
                             brother-in-law; sister-in-law; mother-in-law; or father-in-law. 

 
• persons sixteen years of age or older not related by blood or marriage who presently are 

residing together or who have resided together; 
• persons who have a child in common regardless of whether they are or have been married or 

have lived together at any time; and 
• persons in, or who recently have been in, a dating relationship.** [CGS §46b-38a(2)]              

                                                                                                                                                     
                                                 

  **Dating relationship is not specifically defined as to its nature, duration or time of involvement. NOTE: 
Officers are not mandated to make an arrest when the parties are or have been in a dating relationship (as 
they are in the other categories of “family or household member”). [CGS §46b-38b(a)] However, if an arrest 
is made, the FVPRA and all related family violence statutes, procedures and guidelines will apply. 
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RECOMMENDED RESPONSE PROCEDURES 
 

Telecommunication Personnel 
 

• When taking a call for service attempt to obtain, record and relay to the responding officer(s) 
the following information: 

 
• the caller's name and relationship to the offender; 

 
• the caller's call-back telephone number; 

 
• the nature of the abuse, suspected or sustained injuries; 

 
• weapon(s) / firearms suspected or used – any at location / anyone with access or possession 

of them 
 
• the location of the incident; 

 
• the current location of the victim and the alleged offender (if offender is not present a 

description and possible whereabouts); 
 
• the victim's name and the offender's name, and their relationship to each other; 

 
• previous complaint history; 

 
• whether the victim has a current Protective Order, Restraining Order, Condition of Release 

Order and/or Standing Criminal Restraining Order; 
 
• whether the offender is subject to a court ordered condition of release that s/he have “no 

contact with the victim” or that s/he “not use or possess a dangerous weapon.” 
 

• Check the Connecticut Protection Order Registry – File 20 
 

• If department has received a copy of a Standing Criminal Restraining Order or a Condition of 
Release that the offender have “no contact with the victim” or “not to use or possess 
dangerous weapons, information regarding such orders should be relayed to the responding 
officer.   

 
• Assess the situation with reasonable judgment and dispatch the necessary unit(s) for 

appropriate police and/or EMS response. 
 

• Log time(s) of police/EMS dispatch, arrival and clearance for every call. 
 

• Has CGS 53a-183b (PA-03-43) Interference with an Emergency Call been violated 
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Responding Officer 

 
• Respond to and investigate complaints of family violence in a safe and expeditious manner. 

 
• Regard all such calls as potentially "high risk." 

 
• Approach any family violence situation with caution. When it is practical and can safely be 

done, briefly listen at the door and/or observe the involved parties through a window prior to 
entry: this may assist in the determination of the existence of probable cause for arrest. 

 
• Apply forced entry criteria when necessary. Officers should be trained to determine those 

circumstances in which emergency entrance is required, e.g., felony crime in progress, 
emergency care needed [CGS §52-557b]. 

 
• Determine who is present in the household. Ask all present to come forward. 

 
• Assess and define the nature of the incident by talking to parties separately and not in view of 

one another 
 

• Provide emergency care and intervention to defuse and stabilize the immediate situation. 
 

• Determine whether any weapons are present, for safety issues as well as to make seizure 
decisions for the following: 

 
• use or threatened use in a family violence crime; 

 
• in plain view or in the possession of an offender who is arrested or a suspect for a family 

violence crime [CGS §46b-38b(a)]; Review PA 02-120 
 

• illegal possession or as evidence of any crime. 
 

• Whenever possible, seize weapons as “Evidence.” 
 

• Determine whether the offender is the subject of any Restraining Orders, Protective Orders, 
Standing Criminal Restraining Orders or Conditions of Release that include “no contact with 
the victim” or “no use or possession of dangerous weapons.” 

 
• Identify the relationship between the victim(s) and the accused to determine family and/or 

household member status. 
 

• Determine whether children are present and complete the following if necessary: 
 

• ascertain that they are safe and unhurt; 
 
• interview children as witnesses according to circumstances and department policy; 
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• make arrangements for their care if dual custodial arrests are made; 

 
• if child abuse is suspected, report to DCF by phone and complete form DCF-136. [CGS 

§17a-101(c)] 
 

• Assist the victim(s) in obtaining medical treatment, if needed. [CGS §46b-38b(d)] 
 

• Obtain a signed, written statement or a taped statement from the victim. 
 

• Carefully document the condition of the scene (including diagrams if appropriate), any 
evidence present, witnesses and any other relevant information in the report. 

 
• Identify, collect and preserve all evidence of the crime(s). 

 
• When possible, photograph the scene and any visible injuries on the victim – digital  cameras 

 
• Identify all applicable penal code violation(s), including Violations of a Protective Order, 

Restraining Orders, Standing Criminal Restraining Order or Condition of Release, and record 
facts of violence & threat of violence. 

 
• Determine whether probable cause exists for each penal code violation that will be charged, 

including all companion charges. 
 

• Determine if Self-Defense exists ( CGS 46b-38b) 
 

• Make an arrest decision. Depending on the circumstances, a full custodial arrest or 
misdemeanor summons arrest may be made, or, in limited situations, an arrest warrant may 
be sought. 

 
• If a custodial arrest is not made, remain at the scene until in the reasonable judgment of the 

officer the likelihood of further imminent violence has been eliminated. [CGS §46b-38b(d)] 
 

• Notify the victim(s) of her/his right to file an affidavit or warrant for arrest. [CGS §46b-38b(d)] 
 

• Give the victim(s) a “Victim of Crime Card” containing information about victims' rights and 
phone numbers for services. [CGS §46b-38b(d)] 

 
• Before leaving the scene, help the victim to develop a short-term safety plan which may 

include: 
 

• planning what to do next; 
 

• calling a friend, family member or Advocate for support and/or accompaniment; 
 
• going to a safe place for the night (e.g., family, friends, and shelter). 
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• Explain to the victim the process for arrest, arraignment and bond, including the following: 

 
• the offender might NOT be held overnight, and may be released within hours of the arrest; 

 
• the offender will be arraigned the following court day; 
• prior to arraignment, the victim can meet with or call a family violence victim advocate (FVVA) 

whose phone number is listed on the “Victim of Crime Card” under Domestic Violence 
Programs; 

 
• the FVVA will provide the victim with accurate information regarding the court process. The 

FVVA will represent the victim's wishes* to the Family Relations Officer (FRO)**, will provide 
information and referrals regarding available community services, and will help the victim 
develop a long-term safety plan. (*The FVVA will only disclose information as allowed by the 
victim - otherwise any information given by the victim to the FVVA is confidential.) (**Any 
information provided to the FRO is confidential except that if the victim has indicated that the 
offender holds a permit to carry a pistol or revolver or possesses any firearms, the FRO must 
disclose that information to the court and prosecutor.) 

 
• Maintain adequate radio contact with telecommunicators. 

 
• If firearms were seized, promptly notify the state’s attorney so that appropriate court 

orders regarding custody of the firearms can be requested and issued. 
 

• Upon the arrest of any family violence offender who uses or threatens to use a firearm, 
promptly notify the booking officer and the bail commissioner to ensure that the 
offender is not released on a promise to appear in violation of CGS §54-63c(a). 

 
• When an officer feels that a recorded 911 call or any recorded call for police response will 

enhance an investigation, s/he should request, pursuant to department policies, that the 
recorded call be preserved. 

 
• Complete, file and forward to the appropriate agencies a Family Violence Offense Report, 

DPS-230-C revised August, 2004 
 

• Report suspected abuse of any person with mental retardation who is between the ages of 18 
and 60 to the Abuse Investigation Division of the Office of Protection and Advocacy by phone 
and form PA-6. [CGS §46a-11b] 

 
• Report suspected abuse, neglect, exploitation or abandonment of any elderly person by 

phone to the regional ombudsman and on form W-675 to the Department of Aging. [CGS 
§17b-451] 

 
• If unsure how to proceed in any situation, seek guidance from the supervisor. 
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Supervisor 

 
• Conduct a probable cause review at the scene (when necessary) and/or at booking. 

 
• Ensure that all reports, including the DPS-230-C revised August, 2004, are properly 

completed, filed and forwarded. 
 

• Ensure that follow-up investigative responsibilities are coordinated to allow for shift changes 
and/or referral to specialized units. 

 
• Review any weapon issues, including seizures, to ensure compliance with department rules 

and state and federal laws and guidelines. If firearms were seized, ensure the prompt 
notification of the state’s attorney so that appropriate court orders regarding their 
custody can be requested and issued. 

 
• Review all arrests, dual arrest situations and the self defense issues. 
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 ARREST GUIDELINES 
 

General Considerations 
 

• Whenever an officer determines upon speedy information that a family violence crime, as 
defined in CGS §46b-38a(3), except a family violence crime involving a dating relationship, 
has been committed within such officer's jurisdiction, such officer shall arrest the person or 
persons suspected of its commission and charge such person or persons with the 
appropriate crime(s). [CGS §46b-38b(a)] 

 
• The FVPRA does not alter standards for arrest. Traditional constitutional and statutory 

standards, including CGS §54-1f guidelines, should direct decisions and procedures for 
making and processing family violence arrests. An officer must determine that probable 
cause exists for any charge which forms the basis for an arrest. 

 
• All crimes for which probable cause exists should be charged. 

 
• Where complaints are received from two or more opposing parties, the officer shall evaluate 

each complaint separately to determine whether probable cause to arrest exists. [CGS 
§46b-38b(b)] , as amended by  PA 04-66 amended to consider  self defense. 

 
• No officer investigating an incident of family violence shall threaten, suggest or otherwise 

indicate the arrest of all parties for the purpose of discouraging requests for law enforcement 
intervention by any party. [CGS §46b-38b(b)] 

 
• An officer should emphasize to the parties the criminal nature of family violence and that the 

criminal action is being initiated by the state, not the victim. 
 

• An officer can choose to make a custodial arrest, a summons arrest, or, in limited situations, 
may apply for an arrest warrant. Determination of which type of arrest to pursue should 
include careful consideration of imminent safety concerns for the victim and her/his children. 

 
• Officers are prohibited from releasing on a written promise to appear or the posting of 

a bond without surety any person charged with a family violence crime that involved 
the use or threatened use of a firearm. [CGS §54-63c(a)] 

 
Prohibited Considerations 

 
• The decision whether to arrest should not be influenced by the following: 

 
• the specific consent or request of the victim.[CGS §46b-38b(a)] 

 
• the relationship of the parties. [CGS §46b-38b(a)] The seriousness of crimes committed 

between family or household members is not mitigated because of the relationships, living 
arrangements or genders of those involved. 
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• the fact that civil proceedings such as separation, divorce or custody disputes are pending. 
Pending civil action does not preclude a thorough investigation and arrest if probable cause 
exists. Officers should not assume parties are using claims of domestic violence to gain 
advantages in civil actions. It is well documented that violence escalates when victims take 
steps to seek protection and/or to leave a violent relationship. 

 
• the victim's previous unwillingness to participate in the complaint or arrest process. Often, a 

victim may be immobilized by fear. Officers should treat each incident with equal importance. 
There is no way to tell, for example, which time a victim may be in more danger or when an 
abusive partner may become more violent. 

 
• the number or frequency of calls for police assistance at a particular location. It is well 

documented that the level of violence increases over time and escalates significantly when a 
victim seeks assistance. 

 
• the victim's wishes to not have the suspect arrested. Officers should emphasize that criminal 

action is being initiated by the state, not the victim. 
 
• assurances from the offender that the violence will cease. If probable cause for an arrest exists 

the officer must proceed accordingly. 
 

Jurisdiction 
 
 Misdemeanor Arrests 
 

• An officer (who does not have statewide jurisdiction) may arrest for misdemeanor crimes only 
within the geographical boundaries of the territory covered by his/her department, with two 
exceptions: 

 
• an officer may arrest outside of his/her jurisdiction anywhere within Connecticut if there is 

probable cause based on "speedy information" that the crime(s) occurred within his/her 
precinct and the officer is in immediate pursuit of the suspect. [CGS §54-1f(c)] 

 
• an officer may arrest anywhere within Connecticut if his/her department holds a valid arrest 

warrant for the accused. 
 
 Felony Arrests 
 

• An officer may arrest anywhere within Connecticut if s/he has probable cause to believe the 
suspect has committed a felony. 

 
• "Speedy information" is not required for a felony arrest, however, absent speedy 

information; it is recommended that the officer obtain an arrest warrant unless there is a 
concern for safety and/or flight. 
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Probable Cause Determinations 
 

• Probable cause to arrest exists when the facts and circumstances within the arresting 
officers' knowledge and of which they have reasonable trustworthy information are sufficient 
to warrant a person of reasonable caution to believe that an offense has been or is being 
committed by the person to be arrested. 

 
• Probable cause determinations require weighing probabilities; thus, certainty is not required. 

A probable cause determination is based on the totality of circumstances and cannot be 
supported by a victim's statement alone. Probable cause should be based on a practical 
evaluation of the facts after a careful and thorough investigation of the incident. 

 
• Officers may use their training and experience, senses, and powers of observation in 

weighing the facts. They also may draw reasonable inferences from the facts as they find 
them. The collective knowledge at the time of the arrest of the law enforcement organization, 
not just the personal knowledge of the arresting officer, may be considered. 

 
• Officers are not justified in arresting a person where probable cause is lacking or 

where they merely suspect that a person might commit a crime in the future. However, 
an officer must remain at the scene until, in the reasonable judgment of the officer, the 
likelihood of imminent violence has been eliminated. [CGS §46b-38b(d)] 

 
Warrantless (On-Site) Arrest Considerations 

 
• Connecticut General Statutes section 54-1f authorizes an officer to arrest, without previous 

complaint and warrant, any person for any offense (felony or misdemeanor) that occurred 
within his/her precinct, when the person is taken or apprehended in the act or on the "speedy 
information" of others. 

 
• "Speedy Information" is information received during the course of or promptly after the 

commission of the crime and is of such character that the officer has reasonable grounds to 
accept it as true. Whether such information constitutes speedy information depends on two 
considerations: 

 
• how proximate in time the information is to the crime; and 

 
• whether the officer was justified in accepting the information and relying on it. (It is the officer's 

responsibility to check the truthfulness, reliability, and basis of knowledge of the person 
providing the information, even if that person is a victim.) 
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Warrant Arrest Considerations 
 

• In family violence cases, an arrest warrant should be sought only in limited circumstance, 
such as: 

 
• when further investigation is needed to establish probable cause; 

 
• when the offender cannot be located pursuant to speedy information; 

 
• for a misdemeanor arrest when there is no speedy information; 

 
• for a felony arrest when there is no speedy information, unless there is a concern for safety 

and/or flight. 
 

• Once an officer has determined that probable cause exists, an arrest warrant should be 
sought as soon as possible. 

 
• If a warrant must be sought in any incident involving the use or threatened use of a 

weapon, an officer should expedite the issuance and execution of the arrest warrant. 
 

• All crimes for which probable cause exists should be charged and the facts supporting each 
charge, including violence or threats of violence, should be detailed in the warrant & at the 
next day court presentation 

 
Charging Options 

 
• All crimes for which probable cause exists should be charged. Some examples of relevant 

charges include: 
 
• Breach of Peace [CGS §53a-181] 

 
• Disorderly Conduct [CGS §53a-182] 

 
• Harassment [CGS §53a-182b and §53a-183] 

 
• Assault [CGS §53a-59 through §53a-61a]* 

(* CGS §§53a-59a, 60b, 60c and 61a now include elderly, blind, disabled, pregnant or mentally retarded 
persons.) 

 
• Stalking [CGS §53a-181c, §53a-181d and §53a-181e] 

 
• Sexual Assault [CGS §53a-65 through §53a-73a] 

 
• Threatening [CGS §53a-62] 

 
• Intimidating a Witness [CGS §53a-151a] 

 
• Criminal Violation of a Protective Order [CGS §53a-223] 
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• Violation of a Retraining Order [CGS §53a-223b] 
 
• Criminal Violation of a Standing Criminal Restraining Order [CGS §53a-223a] 

 
• Violation of Conditions of Release [CGS §53a-222] 

 
• Criminal Trespass [CGS §53a-107 and §53a-108] 

 
• Criminal Mischief  [CGS §53-117] 

    
• Kidnapping and/or Unlawful Restraint [CGS §53a-91 through §53a-96] 

 
• Risk of Injury to a Minor [CGS §53-21] 

 
• Cruelty to Persons [CGS §53-20] 

 
• Robbery [CGS §53a-133 through §53a-136a] 

 
• Arson or Reckless Burning [CGS §53a-111 through §53a-114] 

 
• Criminal Possession of a Firearm or Electronic Defense Weapon [CGS §53a-217] 

 
• Criminal Possession of a Pistol or Revolver [CGS §53a-217c] 

 
• Carrying a Pistol or Revolver without a Permit [CGS §29-35] 

 
• Failure to Surrender Permit to Carry a Pistol or Revolver [CGS §29-32] 

 
• Unlawful Discharge of Firearms [CGS §53-203] 

 
• Reckless Endangerment [CGS §53a-63 and §53a-64] 

 
• Burglary [CGS §53a-100 through §53a-103a] 

 
• Homicide [CGS §53a-54a through CGS §53a-58] 

 
• Refer to the section on Federal Domestic Violence Laws (page 30) for information regarding 

federal family violence offenses and procedures for making referrals for federal prosecutions. 
 
 
Review the following Public Acts:  
PA 03-43 Interference with Emergency Calls 
PA 03-98 Full Faith & Credit of Foreign Orders 
PA 03-111 Broadcaster’s liability with AMBER 
Alert 
PA 03-173 Police required to check NCIC 
PA 03-200 Victim’s Address Confidentiality 

PA 03-208 Animal Cruelty 
PA 03-267 Elder Abuse –Mandate reporters 
PA 04-66 Dual Arrest & Self Defense 
PA 05-147 Orders of Protection 
PA 05-169 Crime Victims – Statements – Victim 
Right’s Card 
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Dual Complaints and Self-Defense 
 

• In family violence situations, it is not unusual for victims of family violence to defend 
themselves from abusive partners. It also is not unusual for offenders to claim that they were 
acting in self-defense in an effort to justify their violent or threatening acts or to attempt to 
punish the victim for summoning law enforcement. 

 
• The FVPRA requires that "where complaints are received from two or more opposing parties, 

the officer shall evaluate each complaint separately." [CGS §46b-38b(b)] Officers should be 
aware that, given the nature of family violence, a victim may be afraid to make true and 
accurate statements regarding the incident due to fear of further violence by an abusive 
partner. 

 
• Each complaint must be carefully and thoroughly investigated prior to making an arrest 

decision to ensure that victims will not be re-victimized by the legal system, or made to fear 
police intervention. An arrest itself can be particularly traumatic for victims of family violence. 

 
• The FVPRA requires officers to arrest a person only if there is probable cause to believe 

that person committed a family violence crime.  
 

• Officers are prohibited from threatening, suggesting or otherwise indicating the arrest of all 
parties involved in an incident of family violence for the purpose of discouraging requests for 
law enforcement intervention by any party. [CGS §46b-38b(b)] 

 
• Dual arrests should be made only when probable cause exists to charge each party 

with a crime. In some instances, officers may receive dual complaints, but thorough 
investigation may only establish probable cause to arrest one of the parties. In other 
instances, there may be probable cause to arrest one party for a family violence crime and 
the other for a non-family violence charge, such as interfering with an officer. This does not 
constitute a dual arrest. 

 
• Officers should thoroughly document in the report all claims and complaints, as well as any 

facts and/or circumstances that either corroborate or disprove the claim or complaint. 
 

• An officer should determine what type of arrest, if any, is necessary and appropriate under 
the circumstances, e.g., a misdemeanor summons arrest, a custodial arrest or, in limited 
situations, a later arrest by warrant. 

 
• Determining whether or not a person is criminally liable when allegedly acting in self-defense is 

a complex legal issue. An officer who has reason to believe that a person may have acted 
in self-defense must thoroughly investigate such claim. The claim and any supporting 
information or evidence pertaining to such claim should also be thoroughly 
documented in the report. Review 46b-38b(b) as amended by PA 04-66. 

        
• If an officer is unsure how to proceed in a situation involving self-defense or dual complaints, 

the officer should contact a supervisor and/or state’s attorney. 
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 ORDERS OF PROTECTION 
 

• A very important role for law enforcement in family violence cases is the enforcement of 
Orders of Protection. Police should make use of the Connecticut Protection Order Registry – 
File 20.  

 
• Officers should be aware that the words “Orders of Protection” generally could refer to any 

type of order. Most especially, in the federal law regarding interstate enforcement of orders of 
protection, the reference is general--not specific as to any one of Connecticut’s types of such 
orders. Officers should be aware that each state has its own type(s) and titles of order(s) that 
may or may not be equivalent to one or any of Connecticut’s orders. 

 
• Connecticut has several types of orders of protection available for victims of family violence, 

including: 
 
• Restraining Order (RO) 

 
• Protective Order (PO) 

 
• Standing Criminal Restraining Order (SCRO) 

 
• Conditions of Release (COR) (that include “no contact with the victim” and “not to use or 

possess dangerous weapons.”) 
 

• Each type of order has specific characteristics, requirements for issuance and penalties for 
violation. 

 
• See Appendix for a Comparison of Orders of Protection chart that summarizes and 

compares the types of orders, how they are issued, what they may include and how they are 
enforced. Officers should fully understand all aspects of each type of order. 

 
• It is important for police officers to understand and always remember that orders of protection 

are issued by the court, against the offender, for the protection of the victim. They restrict the 
offender's behavior and only the offender can violate the orders. 

 
• Standard conditions in a RO, PO, COR (CGS 53a-222) or SCRO may include provisions 

enjoining the offender from: 
 
• imposing any restraint upon the person or liberty of the victim; 

 
• threatening, harassing, assaulting, molesting or sexually assaulting the victim; and 

 
• entering the family dwelling or the dwelling of the victim; 

 
• Special conditions that a judge may  order in a RO, PO, COR or SCRO include but are not 

limited to: 
 
• no direct or indirect contact with the victim; and 

 
• not to go or remain within a specific distance of the victim. 

 



 
 18 

• issues on use of  drugs & alcohol and treatment 
 

• When a judge issues an order enjoining the offender from entering his/her family dwelling, the 
offender likely will be advised that s/he may contact the police for a one-time escort to 
retrieve personal belongings. This police service includes: 

 
• escorting the offender for the purpose of preventing further disturbance, violence or damage to 

the belongings of the victim; 
 
• remaining on the scene with the offender for a reasonable time (e.g., 15 minutes) while the 

offender gathers only necessary belongings such as clothes, toiletries and essential work 
materials; and 

 
• providing this escort service one time. 

 
• A judge (pursuant to §54-64a) or a bail commissioner (pursuant to §54-63d) can impose on 

any person charged with a felony, misdemeanor or motor vehicle violation for which a term of 
imprisonment may be imposed a Condition of Release that s/he have “no contact with the 
victim” in that case. A person who intentionally violates that condition should be arrested for 
Violation of a Condition of Release. [CGS §53a-222] 

 
Multiple Orders 

 
• In some situations, a victim may obtain a RO and a PO to get all the court ordered protection 

available. A victim has a right to apply for a RO even if a PO has already been issued. There 
is nothing in the RO or PO statutes to prohibit a victim from having both orders. 

 
• A victim may, for example, apply and have issued a RO by a civil court based on “a 

continuous threat of present physical pain or injury,” prior to any arrestable act by the 
offender. If the offender is subsequently arrested for a family violence crime, a criminal court 
may also issue a PO. 

 
• Likewise, although a PO may be issued after an offender has been arrested, the PO can be 

modified or can end at any time and in all cases will end when the criminal case ends without 
notice to the victim. Additionally, POs generally do not include orders of temporary custody or 
visitation. Therefore, a victim with a PO may also want a RO to have renewable protection 
that will last for a definite period of time, and immediate, emergency orders about custody of 
or visitation with children. 

 
• Offenders also may be subject to more than one of any type of order, with the same victim or 

different victims. 
 

• In some cases, a judge may issue, as part of a criminal sentence, an SCRO which can 
remain in effect indefinitely, until modified or revoked by a judge. Although there likely would 
not also be a PO because the criminal case would have ended, the offender may still be 
subject to a RO.  

 
• In situations where there are multiple orders, officers should document the existence of and 

issuance date of all orders in the report and may arrest for any and all arrestable violations of 
such orders. 
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Verification of an Order 
 
Restraining Order (RO) and Protective Order (PO) –  Violations are Felonies
 

• When an officer is advised that a RO and/or PO against the offender is in effect, the officer 
should attempt to verify that the order exists by any of the following methods: 

 
• ask the victim to produce a copy of the order (the court should have provided a copy to the 

victim at time of or shortly after issuance, however, the victim may not have received a copy: 
also, a victim may not have requested or wanted a PO). 

 
• check with the police department in the victim's town of residence (or, if different from the 

victim’s, the offender’s town of residence) to verify that a copy is on file. (The victim may also 
deliver or request to have delivered a copy to police headquarters in the town where s/he is  
employed.)  Check with the Connecticut Protection Order Registry – File 20 

 
• during business hours, contact the clerk of the court in the judicial district or geographic area 

where the order was issued. 
 

• Ensure that both parties' names are on the order, and, if a RO, that the order has not yet 
expired. 

 
• Refer to Appendix for a sample copy of a RO & PO. 

 
Standing Criminal Restraining Order (SCRO) 
 

• When an officer is advised that a SCRO against the offender is in effect, the officer should 
attempt to verify that the order exists by any of the following methods: 

 
• ask the victim to produce a copy of the order (the court should have provided a copy to the 

victim at the time of or shortly after issuance, however, the victim may not have received a 
copy: also, a victim may not have requested or wanted a SCRO). 

 
  
• check with the police department in the victim's town of residence (or, if different from the 

victim’s, the offender’s town of residence) to inquire whether a copy is on file. (An inquiry can 
also be made with the police department in the town where the victim is employed.)  Check 
with the Connecticut Protection Order Registry – File 20 

 
 
• during business hours, contact the clerk of the court in the judicial district or geographic area 

where the order was issued. 
 

• Ensure that both parties’ names are on the order. 
 

• Refer to Appendix for a sample copy of a SCRO. 
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Condition of Release (COR): “No Contact with Victim” 
 

• Unlike a RO, PO or SCRO, at the time of this publication, there is not a specific form used to 
document the existence of a COR of “no contact with the victim.” (There is, however, a 
specific charge for violation of a COR of “no contact with the victim” and “not to use or 
possess dangerous weapons.”) [CGS §53a-222] 

 
• When a judge issues a COR of “no contact with the victim,” the clerk will write the COR on 

the “Information” sheet in the offender’s court file. A copy of the “Information” with such 
notation may serve as verification. (Refer to Appendix for a sample copy of a judge’s COR 
order.) 

 
• When a bail commissioner issues a COR of “no contact with the victim”, the COR will be 

written in the “PTA” or “bond” sheet in the offender’s court file. A copy of the “Information” 
with such notation may serve as verification. (Refer to Appendix for a sample copy of a bail 
commissioner’s COR order.) 

 
• When an officer is advised that a COR of “no contact” is in effect, the officer should attempt to 

verify that the order exists by any of the following methods: 
 
• ask the victim to produce a certified copy of the order (although the court does not 

automatically send documentation of the order to the victim, the victim may request a certified 
copy of the clerk’s record of such order from the clerk’s office where the case is pending). 

 
• during business hours, contact the clerk of the court in the judicial district or geographic area 

where the order was issued (the state’s attorney’s office handling the case should also have a 
record of the COR). 

 
• contact a bail commissioner, who may have released the offender following arrest with a “no 

contact” COR. 
 
•   Check with the Connecticut Protection Order Registry – File 20 
 

 
Charging for Violation of an Order 

 
Restraining Order (RO) 
 

• It is a felony for violation of a RO: 53a-223b amended by PA 05-147 
 
• if in the course of violating a RO a person commits any other crime(s) (e.g., burglary, 

threatening, breach of peace, assault, etc.) that person should be arrested for any other 
appropriate crime(s). The fact that the person was at the time also violating a RO should be 
included in the report. 

 
• An officer also should inform the victim that s/he may file a motion for contempt in the court 

where the RO was issued. 
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Protective Order (PO) 
 

• A person who is subject to a PO issued pursuant to §46b-38c(e) (family violence), §54-1k 
(stalking) or §54-82r (witness protection) who violates any of the conditions included in the 
order, including a “no contact” condition, should be arrested for Violation of a Protective 
Order. [CGS §53a-223] - Felony 

 
• If in the course of violating a PO a person commits any other crime (e.g., burglary, 

threatening, intimidating a witness, assault, etc.) that person should be arrested for any other 
appropriate crime(s). 

 
Standing Criminal Restraining Order (SCRO) 
 

• A person who is subject to a SCRO issued pursuant to §53a-40e who violates any of the 
conditions included in the order, including a “no contact” condition, should be arrested for 
Violation of a Standing Criminal Restraining Order. [CGS §53a-223a] 

 
• Violation of a SCRO is a felony charge. 

 
• If in the course of violating a SCRO a person commits any other crime (e.g., burglary, 

threatening, breach of peace, assault, etc.),that person should be arrested for any other 
appropriate crime(s). 

 
Condition of Release of “No Contact” With the Victim (COR) 
 

• A person previously charged with the commission of a felony, misdemeanor or motor vehicle 
violation for which a sentence to a term of imprisonment may be imposed, who is released 
pursuant to §54-63d (by a bail commissioner) or §54-64a (by a judge) on a condition that s/he 
have “no contact with the victim,” who intentionally violates that condition should be arrested 
for Violation of a Condition of Release. [CGS §53a-222] 

 
• If in the course of violating a COR a person commits any other crime (e.g., threatening, 

intimidating a witness, assault, etc.) that person should be arrested for any other appropriate 
crime(s). 

 
Enforcement of Foreign Jurisdiction Orders of Protection 

 
• Federal law requires states and Indian tribes to enforce orders of protection issued by foreign 

states and Indian tribes as if the orders had been issued by the non-issuing, enforcing state 
or Indian tribe. (Refer to Appendix regarding Federal  Domestic Violence Laws on Full Faith 
and Credit.) 



 
 22 

• CGS §46b-15a provides a mechanism by which a victim may register in a Connecticut court 
an order of protection from another jurisdiction. The victim must provide the following to the 
Connecticut court: - However, Foreign Orders need not be registered to be enforced. 

 
• a letter requesting such registration in Connecticut; 

 
• two copies, including one certified copy, of the order and a statement that no modification has 

taken place since the order that is being submitted was issued; 
 
• the name and address of the applicant unless disclosure would jeopardize the applicant’s 

safety. Review CGS 1-210b Address Confidentiality amended by PA 03-200. 
 

• CGS §46b-15a provides that an order of protection from another jurisdiction, is enforceable in 
Connecticut as a foreign judgment. 

 
• There is no requirement that victims register a foreign jurisdiction Order of Protection 

in Connecticut. Officers should make an arrest if the foreign order is violated and 
additionally charge for any other violations that have occurred within Connecticut’s 
penal code. 

 
• When presented with a foreign jurisdiction order of protection, an officer should do the 

following: 
 
• attempt to verify the validity of the order; 

 
• ascertain how the order was issued in the originating jurisdiction, i.e., by a civil court or by a 

criminal court; 
 
• thoroughly investigate the applicability of Connecticut’s penal code to the facts of the incident 

and, if Connecticut laws were violated, make appropriate arrest for those violations; 
 
• document all relevant facts, and whenever possible, provide a copy of the order with the 

report; 
 
• contact a supervisor and/or state’s attorney to determine how the foreign jurisdiction order of 

protection should be enforced. 
 

• An officer who believes that an offender may have violated a provision of the federal family 
violence laws should forward a copy of the case report and all supplemental reports and 
documents for review to the United States Attorney’s office in Connecticut, who will determine 
whether the situation warrants prosecution on federal charges. (Refer to Appendix on Federal 
Domestic Violence Laws, (page 30) 

 
• The possible or potential applicability of any federal family violence laws does not 

preclude an officer’s responsibility to comply with Connecticut’s family violence laws 
and mandatory arrest provisions. 
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 WEAPONS 
 

Effect of Restraining, Protective, Standing Criminal Restraining Order Upon the Right to 
Possess and/or Carry 

 
Possession – Definition CGS 53a-3(2): to have physical possession or otherwise to exercise 
dominion or control over tangible property 
 

• Not later than two business days after the occurrence of any event that makes a person 
ineligible to possess a pistol or revolver OR OTHER FIREARMS (CGS 29-26k (a)) (e.g., 
person is subject to a RO, PO or SCRO (see page 24 for other disqualifying events)such 
person must: 

 
• transfer in accordance with CGS §29-33 any pistols or revolvers (firearms with a barrel 

length of less than twelve inches [CGS §29-27 and §53a-3 (18)]) OR ANY FIREARM in his 
possession to a person eligible to possess a pistol or revolver OR ANY FIREARM in 
accordance with any applicable state or federal laws, or 

 
• deliver or surrender such pistols or revolvers OR OTHER FIREARMS to the Commissioner 

of Public Safety. [CGS §29-36k(a)] 
 

• Persons subject to a RO, PO, or SCRO are prohibited from possessing a firearm or electronic 
defense weapon. [CGS §53a-217 as amended by PA 01-130 Section 15] 

 
• Persons subjected to a COR “ no use or possession of a dangerous weapon” are prohibited 

from possessing any dangerous weapons. [CGS § 53a-222]. Check with your State’s 
Attorney to determine classification of firearm as a Dangerous Weapon, review State of 
Connecticut v. Raymond Hardy; SC 17324, May 9, 2006 

 
• Refer to the Federal Domestic Violence Laws section regarding federal law, which prohibits 

the possession of firearms or ammunition by any person, including a police officer, who has 
been convicted in any court of a family violence crime (a family violence crime that has, as an 
element, the use or attempted use of physical force, or the threatened use of a deadly 
weapon), including a misdemeanor family violence crime. 

 
• Although CGS §29-36k requires pistols and revolvers or  ANY FIREARM to be delivered or 

surrendered to the Commissioner of Public Safety, departments should develop procedures 
to accept any delivered or surrendered pistols and revolvers and forward them to the 
Commissioner of Public Safety. 

  
• If a department does not have such procedures then a person attempting to surrender a 

weapon to a municipal police department should be referred to the Commissioner of Public 
Safety, unless the delayed surrender would cause a violation of the criminal possession 
statute. In such a case, the municipal police department should accept the weapon and 
forward it to the Commissioner of Public Safety. (PA 01-130 Section 14 states that the 
Commissioner of Public Safety, Chief State’s Attorney and the Connecticut Police Chiefs 
Association shall develop protocol to ensure compliance with [CGS§29-36k]. 
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Permit to Carry 
 

• The issuing authority of a state permit, temporary state permit, or a local permit (if issued 
prior to the effective date October 1, 2001, CGS 29-32c amended by  PA 01-130) to carry a 
pistol or revolver must revoke the permit if the person holding the permit becomes subject to 
a RO, PO or SCRO in a case that involves the use, attempted use, or threatened use of 
physical force against another person. [CGS §29-32] 

 
• Within five days of receiving written notice that a permit has been revoked, the holder of the 

permit must surrender the permit to the issuing authority. [CGS §29-32] 
 

• If an offender does not surrender the permit, s/he should be arrested for Failure to Surrender 
Permit to Carry a Pistol or Revolver, and the permit should be confiscated and immediately 
forwarded to the Commissioner of Public Safety. [CGS §29-32, as amended by PA 01-130 
Section 8] 

 
• Any local issuing authority that revokes a permit must notify the Commissioner of Public 

Safety of the revocation, and any revocation of a state permit by the Commissioner of Public 
Safety requires notification of the local issuing authority. [CGS §29-32] 

 
Seizure of Firearms from a Person Arrested for a Family Violence Crime 

 
• Whenever an officer makes an arrest for a family violence crime, the officer may seize any 

firearm at the location where the crime is alleged to have been committed that is in the 
possession of the offender / suspect or that is in plain view. [CGS §46b-38b(a)] 
Amended by PA 02-120. Refer to CGS 53a-3 – Definition of Possession. 

 
• Any firearm seized under this section must be returned in its original condition within seven 

(7) days to its rightful owner unless such person is ineligible to possess the firearm or unless 
otherwise ordered by the court. Any questions regarding the return of weapons seized under 
this section should promptly be directed to the state’s attorney.)  REFER TO PAGE 31 DSS – 
FIREARM EVIDENCE DATABANK – This may provide law enforcement with an 
additional procedure on test firing of a seized hand gun in a criminal investigation. 

 
• An officer who seizes a firearm under this section should include this information in 

the report and promptly notify the state’s attorney where the case will be arraigned to 
allow appropriate orders to be requested and issued. 

 
Seizure of Weapons as Evidence of a Crime 

 
• Whenever a weapon is seized as evidence of a crime it should be documented in the report, 

all necessary state forms should be completed, chain of custody procedures should be 
followed and a receipt for the weapon should be issued to the offender. 

 
Use or Threatened Use of Weapon in a Family Violence Crime 
 

• If an officer has probable cause to believe that a person used or threatened to use a weapon 
in the commission of any family violence crime(s) that person should be arrested for all 
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appropriate crimes and the weapon should be seized as evidence of the crime(s). 
 
Criminal Possession of a Pistol or Revolver 
 

• The offender should be arrested for Criminal Possession of a Pistol or Revolver (CGS §53a-
217c), and the weapon should be seized as evidence of the crime whenever a pistol or 
revolver is found in the possession of an offender who: 

 
• knows s/he is subject to a RO, PO or SCRO issued by the court, after notice and an 

opportunity to be heard, in a case involving the use, attempted use or threatened use of 
physical force against another person; 

 
• has been convicted of a felony; 

 
• has been convicted of CGS §§ 21a-279(c), 53a-58, 53a-61, 53a-61a, 53a-62, 53a-63, 53a-96, 

53a-175, 53a-176, 53a-178, or 53a-181d; 
 
• has been convicted as a delinquent for a serious juvenile offense, as defined in §46b-120; 

 
• knows s/he is subject to a firearm seizure order issued pursuant to §29-38c(d), after notice and 

an opportunity to be heard has been provided to such person; 
 
• has been discharged from custody within the preceding 20 years after having been found not 

guilty of a crime by reason of mental disease or defect; 
 
• has been confined in a hospital for persons with psychiatric disabilities, as defined in §17a-

495, within the preceding twelve months by order of a probate court; or 
 
• is an alien illegally or unlawfully in the United States. 

 
• A person who becomes ineligible to possess a FIREARM has two business days after the 

occurrence of the event that makes him/her ineligible to transfer any FIREARM to a person 
eligible to possess them, or to surrender them to the Commissioner of Public Safety. [CGS 
§29-36k] 

 
• Departments should have in place a protocol to ensure that persons who become ineligible to 

possess a FIREARM have, in accordance with CGS §29-36k, transferred or surrendered 
them within two business days, as required. [CGS §29-36n, as amended by PA 01-130 
Section 14 &  PA 02-120] 

 
• Whenever there is probable cause to believe that a person has not complied with CGS §29-

36k within two business days, an officer should initiate an investigation and if necessary 
apply for a S/S warrant to recover the weapon(s). An arrest should be made as appropriate. 
[CGS §53a-217c] 

 
Criminal Possession of a Firearm or Electronic Defense Weapon 
 

• The offender should be arrested for Criminal Possession of a Firearm or Electronic Defense 
weapon [CGS §53a-217]. and the weapon should be seized as evidence of the crime 
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whenever a firearm or electronic defense weapon is found in the possession of an offender 
who: 

 
• knows s/he is subject to a RO, PO or SCRO issued by the court, after notice and an 

opportunity to be heard, in a case involving the use, attempted use or threatened use of 
physical force against another person; 

 
• has been convicted of a felony; 

 
• has been convicted as a delinquent for a serious juvenile offense, as defined in §46b-120; or 

 
• knows s/he is subject to a firearm seizure order issued pursuant to §29-38c(d), after notice and 

an opportunity to be heard has been provided to such person. 
 

 
• Whenever there is probable cause to believe that a person illegally possesses a firearm or 

electronic defense weapon, an officer should initiate an investigation and if necessary apply 
for a S/S warrant to recover the weapon(s). An arrest should be made as appropriate. [CGS 
§53a-217c as amended by PA 01-130 section 15] 

 
Carrying Pistol or Revolver without a Permit 
 

• If a pistol or revolver is found in the possession of a person involved in a family violence 
crime who is not in his dwelling house or place of business, and a determination is made that 
the person does not have a valid permit to carry such weapon, the person should be arrested 
for Carrying a Pistol or Revolver without a Permit, and the weapon should be seized as 
evidence of the crime. [CGS §29-35(a)] 

 
• If the person possesses an invalid permit to carry a pistol or revolver, the permit should be 

confiscated and immediately forwarded to the Commissioner of Public Safety. An arrest for 
Failure to Surrender Permit to Carry a Pistol or Revolver, if applicable, should also be made. 
[CGS §29-35, as amended by PA 01-130 Section 8] 

 
Violation of Conditions of Release 
 

• Whenever a person previously charged with the commission of a felony, misdemeanor or 
motor vehicle violation for which a sentence to a term of imprisonment may be imposed, who 
is released pursuant to §54-63d (by bail commissioner) or §54-64a (judicial authority) on a 
condition that s/he “not use or possess a dangerous weapon,” intentionally violates such 
condition, that person should be arrested for Violation of Conditions of Release. [CGS §53a-
222] 

 
• Persons subjected to a COR “no use or possession of a dangerous weapon” are prohibited 

from possessing any dangerous weapons. [CGS § 53a-222]. Check with your State’s 
Attorney to determine classification of firearm / electronic defense weapon as a 
Dangerous Weapon, review State of Connecticut v. Raymond Hardy; SC 17324, May 9, 
2006 
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Seizure of Firearms from Person Posing Risk to Self or Others 

 
• A judge may issue a search and seizure warrant to search for and take custody of any 

firearms when any two officers (or any prosecutor) complain on oath that there is probable 
cause to believe that (1) a person poses a risk of imminent personal injury to him/herself or to 
other individuals, (2) such person possesses one or more firearms, and (3) such firearm or 
firearms are within or upon any place, thing or person. [CGS §29-38c(a)] 

 
• Officers must conduct an independent investigation to determine: 

 
• that such probable cause exists; and 

 
• that there is no reasonable alternative available to prevent such person from causing 

imminent personal injury to him/herself or others with the firearm. 
 
• In determining whether grounds for the application exist, the judge will consider: 
 
• recent threats or acts of violence by such person directed at him/herself or others; 

 
• recent acts of cruelty to animals as provided in CGS §53-247(b) by such person. 

 
• In evaluating whether such recent threats or acts of violence constitute probable cause to 

believe that such person poses a risk of imminent personal injury to him/herself or others, the 
judge may consider other factors including, but not limited to: 

 
• the reckless use, display or brandishing of a firearm by such person; 

 
• the history of the use, attempted use or threatened use of physical force by such person 

against other persons; 
 

• prior involuntary confinement of such person in a hospital for persons with psychiatric 
disabilities; and 

 
• the illegal use of controlled substances or abuse of alcohol by such person 

 
• Because the statute requires that the risk be imminent, a warrant under this section 

should be sought as soon as possible to preserve the imminent aspect of that risk. 
 

• Officers should use the form Search and Seizure Warrant Firearms - Person Posing Risk to 
Self or Others (JD-CR-129 Rev. 3/2000) to apply for such warrant. In addition to 
completing the required information on the form, officers should attach and submit 
with the application form a supporting affidavit which states the officers’ training and 
experience and clearly details the facts upon which probable cause may be based. 
(Refer to Appendix for a copy of S/S Warrant form JD-CR-129.) 

 
• Whenever firearms are seized under this section from a person involved in a family 

violence case, officers should promptly notify the state’s attorney in the court where that 
case is being handled and where the search and seizure was executed. 
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• The applicant for the warrant must file a copy of the application with all supporting affidavits 
with the clerk of the court for the geographic area within which the search will be conducted 
no later than the next business day following the execution of the warrant. [CGS §29-38c(c)] 

 
• Within fourteen days of the execution of the warrant the court will hold a hearing to determine 

whether any seized firearms should be returned to the person named in the warrant. The 
state will have the burden of proving all material facts by clear and convincing evidence. 
[CGS §29-38c(d)] 

 
Return of Surrendered or Seized Weapons 
 

• Prior to the return of any seized or surrendered weapon, the department should investigate to 
ensure that the person is eligible to possess the weapon(s). That investigation should include the 
following: 
 
• that the person is not the subject of a RO, PO, SCRO or COR of “no use or possession of a 

firearm;” 
 
• that the person is not subject to a seizure under CGS §29-38c; 

 
• that the person would not be in violation of CGS §53a-217 or §53a-217c; 

 
• that the person has not been convicted of a misdemeanor or felony family violence crime 

(federal law prohibits the possession of a firearm or ammunition by any person who has been 
convicted in any court of a misdemeanor or felony family violence crime); [Title 18 USC §  
922(g)(9)] (Refer to Federal Domestic Violence Laws, page 30.) 

 
• that any handgun required, pursuant to PA 01-130 section 10, to be tested for the Firearm 

Evidence databank has been submitted for such testing. 
 
 Pistols and Revolvers Surrendered pursuant to CGS §29-36k 
 

• A person who has surrendered any FIREARMS to the Commissioner of Public Safety 
pursuant to CGS §29-36k may request in writing within one year after such surrender that the 
weapon be transferred to any person eligible to possess a pistol or revolver. Within ten days 
of receipt of written notice of the transfer by both the owner and the designated receiver, the 
Commissioner of Public Safety must deliver the weapon to the receiver. [CGS §29-36k(b)] 

 
• If a transfer request from the owner of a  FIREARM is not received within one year from the 

surrender, the Commissioner of Public Safety shall have the weapon destroyed. [CGS 
§29-36k(b)] 
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Firearm seized pursuant to CGS §46b-38b(a) 
 

• Any firearm seized under this section must be returned in its original condition within seven 
(7) days to its rightful owner unless such person is ineligible to possess the firearm or unless 
otherwise ordered by the court. Refer to page 31 DSS. 

 
• The department should investigate to determine whether the person has become ineligible to 

possess a firearm prior to any return. 
 

• Any questions regarding the return of weapons seized under this section should 
promptly be directed to the state’s attorney. 

 
Weapons seized as Evidence of a Crime 
 

• A weapon seized as evidence of a crime should be listed on an inventory sheet that is 
submitted to the court, and the seized weapon should be secured and maintained as 
evidence until the court orders its disposition at the conclusion of the case: typically that it 
either be destroyed or be returned to its rightful owner. 

 
• Prior to the return of any weapon to its rightful owner, the department should investigate to 

determine whether the person has become ineligible to possess a weapon. 
 
 Firearms Seized pursuant to CGS §29-38c(a)  (Person posing risk to self or others) 
 

• Within fourteen days of the execution of the warrant the court will hold a hearing to determine 
whether any seized firearms should be returned to the person named in the warrant. The 
state will have the burden of proving all material facts by clear and convincing evidence. 
[CGS §29-38c(d)] 

 
• Prior to the return of any firearm, the department should investigate to determine whether the 

person has become ineligible to possess a firearm. 
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 Public Act 01-130 Section 10c(1) 
Firearm Evidence Databank 

 
• PA 01-130 section 10 requires the Division of Scientific Services (DSS) to establish a firearm 

evidence databank that will contain test fire evidence from all handguns submitted to it. 
 
• A police department must submit to the DSS any HANDGUN that comes into police custody 

as the result of: 
 

o  a criminal investigation  
o  as found property  
o  OR for destruction, prior to the return or destruction of the handgun.  

 
• DSS has 60 days following submission by a department to collect such evidence. 

 
• Under certain circumstances, the DSS may permit a firearm’s section of a police department 

to collect such test fire evidence and enter test firearm images directly into the databank. 
[PA01-130 section 10 (b) (4)] 

 
• DSS will not accept handguns for testing which are surrendered pursuant to an Order of 

Protection or for safekeeping. 
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FEDERAL DOMESTIC VIOLENCE LAWS 
 

• The possible or potential applicability of any of the federal family violence laws 
discussed in the following material does not preclude an officer’s responsibility to 
comply with Connecticut’s family violence laws and mandatory arrest provisions. 

 
Referrals 
 

• The Federal Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) makes criminal certain actions in family 
violence situations. Several provisions of that Act which may arise during the investigation of 
family violence situations by Connecticut police officers are described below. 

 
• If an officer believes that a person may have violated a provision of VAWA should forward 

copies of the case report and all supplemental reports to one of the United States Attorney's 
Office (see below) for review by an Assistant United States Attorney who will determine 
whether the situation warrants prosecution on federal charges. 

 
• The offices of the United States Attorney for the District of Connecticut are located at: 

 
• Kevin J. O’Connor, United State’s Attorney 

Office of the United States Attorney 
157 Church Street 
New Haven, Connecticut 06508 
(203) 821-3700 

 
• Peter S. Jongbloed, Chief, Criminal Division 

Office of the United States Attorney 
157 Church Street 
New Haven, Connecticut 06508 
(203) 821-3700 

 
• Alex Hernandez, Supervisor 

Office of the United States Attorney 
915 Lafayette Boulevard 
Bridgeport, Connecticut 06604 
(203) 696-3000 

 
• Nora A. Dannehy, Supervisor 

Office of the United States Attorney 
450 Main Street 
Hartford, Connecticut 06103 
(860) 947-1101 

 
• All officers should be sufficiently trained to recognize the possibility of a federal 

VAWA violation and to make referrals for these violations. 
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Summary of Applicable VAWA Sections 
 
Disposal, Receipt or Possession of a Firearm:  Title 18 USC §922(d) and (g) 
 

• Section 922(d)(8) prohibits the knowing transfer of a firearm to a person who is subject to a 
court order that restrains the person from harassing, stalking, or threatening an intimate 
partner or child. 

 
• Section 922(g)(8) prohibits the possession of a firearm by persons subject to a court order 

that restrains the person from harassing, stalking, or threatening an intimate partner of such 
person or child of such intimate partner or person, or engaging in other conduct that would 
place an intimate partner in reasonable fear of bodily injury to the partner or child. 

 
• Section 922(g)(9) prohibits the possession of a firearm or ammunition by any person who has 

been convicted in any court of a family violence crime (a family violence crime that has, as an 
element, the use or attempted use of physical force, or the threatened use of a deadly 
weapon), including a misdemeanor family violence crime. 

 
Interstate Domestic Violence:  Title 18 USC §2261(a)(1) 
 

• Prohibits the travel across state lines or the leaving or entering of Indian territory with the 
intent (at the time of the crossing) to injure, harass, or intimidate a spouse or intimate partner. 
This provision is violated when a person, after the crossing, then intentionally commits a 
violent crime or causes a bodily injury. 

 
Causing the Crossing of State Line by Force, Coercion, Duress, or Fraud:  Title 18 USC 
§2261(a)(2) 
 

• Violation of this provision occurs when the defendant by force, coercion, duress or fraud, 
causes a spouse or intimate partner to cross state lines (or leave or enter Indian territory) and 
in the course or as a result of that conduct, intentionally commits a crime of violence. Bodily 
injury to the victim is also required. 

 
Interstate Stalking:  Title 18 USC §2261A 
 

• Prohibits travel across a state line or within the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of 
the United States with the intent to injure or harass another person, when in the course of, or 
as a result of, such travel, the person is placed in reasonable fear of the death of, or serious 
bodily injury to, that person or a member of that person's family. 

 
Interstate Violation of a Protective Order:  Title 18 USC §2262 
 

• This provision is violated when a person travels across state lines or leaves or enters Indian 
territory with the intent to engage in conduct that (A)(i) violates the portion of a PO that 
protects against credible threats of violence, repeated harassment, or bodily injury; or (ii) 
would violate subparagraph (A) if the conduct occurred in the jurisdiction in which the PO was 
issued; and (B) subsequently engages in such conduct. 
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Full Faith and Credit:  Title 18 USC §2265 and §2266 
 

• Requires states and Indian tribes to enforce orders of protection issued by foreign states and 
Indian tribes as if the orders had been issued by the non-issuing, enforcing state or Indian 
tribe. 

 
• A valid order of protection is defined as an order of protection that was issued by a court with 

jurisdiction over the parties and matter under the laws of such state or Indian tribe and in 
circumstances where the defendant was given reasonable notice and the opportunity to be 
heard sufficient to protect the defendant's due process rights. 

 
• The provision applies to any injunction or other order issued for the purpose of preventing 

violent or threatening acts or harassment against, or contact or communication with or 
physical proximity to, another person, including temporary and final protection orders issued 
by civil and criminal courts (other than support or child custody orders) In other words, it 
extends to temporary and final, civil and criminal orders of protection. 

 
• The provision states that officers should enforce out-of-state orders of protection that are 

presented to them if the order appears valid on its face, i.e., it contains both parties' names 
and has not yet expired. The provision further states that even if the out-of-state order is 
uncertified, it should be enforced if it meets the requirements of facial validity. (Refer to the 
section on Enforcement of Foreign Jurisdiction Orders of Protection, page 22.) 

 
 
 

 
 CONCLUSION 
 
Police response to crimes of family violence must have as a goal the safety of victims, police 
officers, children and other witnesses involved in such crimes. Family violence is a violent crime 
and offenders should be charged with all crimes for which probable cause exists. 
 
Departmental policies and procedures for handling family violence crimes should be clear and 
concise. All police officers should be well trained on the enforcement of such policies and 
procedures. Because state and federal laws pertaining to family violence continue to evolve, police 
departments should monitor changes and continue to maintain police officers' knowledge of this 
area. 
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 APPENDIX 
 
 

I. Civilian Use of Physical Force 
 

II. Civilian Use of Deadly Force 
 

III. Comparison of Orders of Protection 
 

IV. Sample Restraining Orders: 
a. Application for Relief from Abuse 
b. Affidavit – Relief from Abuse 
c. Ex Parte Restraining Order – Relief from Abuse 
d. Restraining Order After Hearing – Relief from Abuse 

 
V. Sample Family Violence Protective Order 

 
VI. Sample Standing Criminal Restraining Order 

 
VII. Sample Condition of Release – Ordered by a Judge 

 
VIII. Family Violence Offense Report – DPS 230 revised 8/04 
 

IX. Search & Seizure Warrant – Firearms / Person Posing Risk 
to Self or Others JD-CR-129 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 35 

 
 
 
 
 
 

USE OF PHYSICAL FORCE 
 

Civilian Justified Use of Physical Force 
 

• The use of physical force upon another person is justifiable and not criminal as follows: 
 
• a person may use only the amount of force that s/he reasonably believes is necessary if s/he 

reasonably believes that it is necessary to defend himself or a third person from imminent use 
of physical force by an aggressor. [CGS §53a-19(a)] 

 
• a parent, guardian, or other person entrusted with the care and supervision of a minor (under 

the age of eighteen [CGS §1-1d]) or an incompetent person may use physical force only when 
and to the extent that s/he reasonably believes necessary to maintain discipline or to promote 
the welfare of the minor or incompetent person. [CGS §53a-18(1)] 

 
• a person acting under a reasonable belief that another person is about to commit suicide or to 

inflict serious physical injury (injury which creates a substantial risk of death, or which causes 
disfigurement, serious impairment of health or serious loss or impairment of the function of any 
bodily organ [CGS §53a-3 (4)]) upon her/himself may use only the reasonable amount of 
physical force that is necessary to stop that person from harming her/himself. [CGS 
§53a-18(4)] 

 
• a person may use physical force when and to the extent that s/he reasonably believes 

necessary to prevent an attempt by such other person to commit larceny or criminal mischief 
involving property, or to regain property s/he reasonably believes to have been acquired by 
larceny within a reasonable time prior to the use of such force. [CGS §53a-21] 

 
Civilian Unjustified Use of Physical Force 

 
• The use of physical force upon another person is criminal under any of the following 

circumstances: 
 
• a person provokes the use of physical force by another person with the intent to cause 

physical injury or death to the other person. [CGS §53a-19(c)(1)] 
 
• a person is the initial aggressor. (However, if s/he withdraws from the encounter and effectively 

communicates to the other person the intent to do so and the other person continues or 
threatens the use of physical force, s/he may use the reasonable amount of force necessary to 
defend her/him.) [CGS §53a-19(c)(2)] 
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USE OF DEADLY FORCE 
 

Civilian Justified Use of Deadly Force 
 

• The use of deadly physical force upon another person is justifiable and not criminal as 
follows: 

 
• A person may only use deadly force upon another person to defend her/himself or a third 

person when s/he reasonably believes it is necessary to protect against the use or imminent 
use of deadly physical force of the infliction or imminent infliction of great bodily harm. [CGS 
§53a-19(a)] 

 
• Although a person has a duty to retreat if s/he can safely do so to avoid the use of deadly 

physical force [CGS §53a-19(b)], s/he does not have to retreat if: 
 

• s/he is in her/his dwelling and the person upon whom s/he is going to use deadly physical 
force does not also reside in the dwelling. [CGS §53a-19(b)(1)] 

 
• s/he is in her/his place of work and was not the initial aggressor.[CGS §53a-19(b)(1)] 

 
• s/he is a police officer or a private person assisting a police officer at the police officer's 

direction. [CGS §53a- 19(b)(1)] 
 

Civilian Unjustified Use of Deadly Physical Force 
 

• The use of deadly physical force upon another person is criminal under any of the following 
circumstances: 

 
• if a person can avoid the use of deadly physical force by surrendering possession of property 

to a person asserting a claim of right thereto. [CGS §53a-19(b)(2)] 
 
• if a person can avoid the use of deadly physical force by complying with a demand that s/he 

abstain from performing an act which s/he is not obliged to perform. [CGS §53a-19(b)(3)]











































 

 

POST Memo 
Date:    8/31/07 

To: Law Enforcement  

From: Stan Konesky Jr. 

RE:  2007 Domestic Violence New Laws:  PA 07-123 / PA 07- 78 

Highlights: 

 Police officers issuing COR in certain conditions (NEW) 

 Reminder to check NCIC  prior to releasing a person from custody 

 Civil protection for police when issuing a COR 

 Two criminal degrees of violation of a COR ( 1  Degree = felony / 2  degree  = 
misdemeanor 

st nd

 Expands Standing Criminal Restraining Order 

 New definition of “Electronic Defense Weapon” (EDW) 

 EDW includes the Taser and any other conducive energy defense weapon 

 NEW – includes seizing not only a firearm but electronic defense weapons at a 
domestic violence location for 7 days 

 NEW penal code laws on three degrees of strangulation 

 PA-78 Act concerning protection of pets in domestic violence cases 

Effective date of this new law is October 1, 2007. 
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